ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

“[1.] Under the California Endangered Species Act, Fish and
Game Code §§ 2050 ef seq., may the Fish and Game Commission
consider a petition to delist a species on the ground that the original
listing was in error?

“[2.] If so, does the petition at issue here contain sufficient
information to warrant the Commission’s further consideration?”

(Order Granting Petition for Review, Feb. 27, 2013, at 1 (emphasis added).)

Introduction

This is an action for writ of mandamus to compel further
consideration of a petition filed by petitioners Central Coast Forest
Association and Big Creek Lumber Company (plaintiffs and respondents
below, hereafter “petitioners™). They seek to adjust the southern geographic
boundary of the listing of coho salmon under the California Endangered
Species Act (CESA). They contend, among other things, that the coho are
not native to California streams south of San Francisco, a hundred years of
failed hatchery experiments and other data confirming that they cannot
establish wild, self-sustaining populations in this area.

Respondent California Fish and Game Commission (hereafter, the
“Commission”) initially rejected the petition on March 17, 2005, as failing
to provide “provide sufficient information to indicate that the petitioned
action may be warranted” (Fish and Game Code § 2074.2(a)(1)).

(AR1/3:810.) Petitioners obtained a first writ of mandate which the



Commission did not appeal, but upon reconsideration, the Commission
again rejected the petition on March 1, 2007, prompting the trial court to
issue a second writ commanding the Commission to accept the petition
pursuant to § 2074.2(a) and to proceed to further review as contemplated by
§ 2074.4 et seq.

The trial court granted the writ in a final judgment filed
September 25, 2008. (ROA1025-26.") Respondent California Fish and
Game Commission timely appealed by Notice of Appeal filed November
24,2008 (ROA1172), and the Court of Appeals filed an opinion reversing
the trial court on December 14, 2013. Petitioners timely petitioned this
Court for review on January 22, 2013, and this Court granted review,
limited to the issues quoted above, by order filed February 27, 2013.

Statement of Facts

Plaintiffs have long been involved in fishery research and
propagation activities,” and have even won awards for their environmental

stewardship, including the prestigious Wildlife Conservation Achievement

! The Commission designated the Superior Court file as the Record on
Appeal. References to that record are designated as “ROA,” followed by
the page number.

2 See also Wall Street Journal, “Even a Logger Praised As Sensitive to
Ecology Faces Bitter Opposition”, April 1, 1993; Santa Cruz Weekly, “Big
Creek Lumber Seeks Special Consideration in Salmon Rules,” June 19,
2009 (federal fisheries scientist notes that “in Big Creek Lumber’s case,
self-regulation works”).



Award from the California Department of Fish and Game (“Department™)
in 1995. (AR1/3:727,> 756, 782) Their petition to redefine the geographic
scope of the coho salmon “species™ is perhaps the only endangered species
act petition ever presented to the Commission which was supported by a
peer-reviewed article in the Fisheries journal of the American Fisheries
Society. (AR1/3:899-917.) Notwithstanding the peculiar technical
arguments invented by the majority below, and the even more peculiar
positions of the Commission, it was at all times obvious that the petition
demonstrated at least that species redefinition “may be warranted” for
purposes of requiring further review of the petition’s claims.

A. Legal Background

Under CESA, the Commission is vested with the authority to
establish and maintain a list of “endangered” and “threatened” species.
Fish & Game Code § 2070. The Act defines an “endangered species” as
any

“native species or subspecies of a bird, mammal, fish,

amphibian, reptile, or plant which is in serious danger of

becoming extinct throughout all, or a significant portion, of its
range due to one or more causes, including loss of habitat,

3The certified administrative record for the case consists of four parts. Parts
I through III consisted of 12 bound volumes entitled “Administrative
Record Concerning Rejection of Petition to Delist Coho South of San
Francisco.” Part IV of the record, with 13 bound volumes, consists of the
certified record concerning the prior listing decision. Parts I through III of
the record are cited as “AR1,” and Part IV is referred to as “AR2,” followed
by the volume and page numbers.



change in habitat, overexploitation, predation, competition, or
disease.”

Id. § 2062. A “threatened species” is defined in similar fashion, except that
“although not presently threatened with extinction, [it] is likely to become
an endangered species in the foreseeable future in the absence of the special
protection and management efforts required by this chapter.” Id. § 2067.
The Act prohibits the “take” of any endangered or threatened species,

id § 2080, with “take” defined as to “hunt, pursue, catch, capture, or kill, or
attempt to hunt, pursue, catch, capture, or kill.” Id. § 86.

Any interested person may petition to list or delist any species. See
id. § 2071. Within 90 days of receipt of a petition, the Department must
recommend to the Commission whether the petition contains sufficient
information to indicate that the petitioned action may be warranted. /d.

§ 2073.5. This case concerns a petition rejected by the Commission in this
initial review pursuant to § 2074.2(a)(1).

If the Commission accepts the petition, “all reasonable attempts shall
be made to notify affected and interested parties and to solicit data and
comments on the petitioned action from as many persons as is practicable”.
Id. § 2074.4. The Department is charged to “commence a review of the
status of the species concerned in the petition,” and recommend within 12
months whether the petitioned action, in light of the best available scientific

information, is warranted. See id. § 2074.6. Upon receipt of the
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Department’s recommendation, the Commission must then make the final
determination whether to proceed with the petitioned action. Id. § 2075.5.
If the Commission determines that the petitioned listing or de-listing is
warranted, it must then issue a notice of proposed rulemaking in
anticipation of the adoption of a regulation listing or de-listing the species.
See id. § 2075.5(2).

B. Procedural History

As the majority opinion below emphasized, the Commission had
initially listed coho salmon south of San Francisco in 1995 as a “species” on
the basis of a status report by the Department which concluded:

“These southernmost populations experience and respond to

the unfavorable, adverse environmental conditions associated

with the fringe of any distribution. In such areas,

environmental conditions can become marginal, harsh or

extreme for coho survival and, presumably, these

southernmost populations have adapted to the less-than-

optimal environments.” (Quoted in ROAS63: BXlO,4 at47;

emphasis added.)
As set forth below, plaintiffs ultimately discovered that the presumption of

the Department and Commission was simply wrong; in fact, the only reason

coho populations were present at all south of San Francisco was by virtue of

4 Because of potential page numbering problems with the Record on
Appeal, we include where appropriate a parallel cite to the primary factual
submission before the Superior Court, exhibits to the Declaration of James
L. Buchal filed February 4, 2008, designated as “BX”’.



repeated artificial propagation, which whenever halted led to rapid
extirpation, because this “fringe” habitat was entirely unsuitable for coho.

By 2002, the Commission had completed a second status report
which also proceeded on the false premise that the native range of coho
salmon extended below San Francisco. It appears that the Commission did
not get around to implementing the 2002 status review until August 2004.
See California Forestry Ass’nv. California Fish & Game Comm’'n (2007)
156 Cal.App.4th 1535, 1544.

On June 17, 2004, plaintiffs Central Coast Forest Association and
Big Creek Lumber Company submitted their Petition to redefine the
southern boundary for CESA protection of coho salmon to the Department.
(AR1/3:828-896.) Plaintiffs lodged further materials in support of the
Petition with the Commission on January 26, 2005 (ROA517-71: BX10),
and on February 3, 2005 lodged the testimony of an independent, certified,
Ph.D. fisheries scientist Dr. Victor Kaczynski (AR1/3:785-798).

Among other things, the petition, as supplemented, demonstrated
that:

e Freshwater and ocean survival statistics prove that the coho cannot

establish self-sustaining populations south of San Francisco (see

infra Point II(B)(1));



The streams south of San Francisco frequently have sandbars
blocking salmon migration entirely, and the drier and “flashier”
nature of precipitation south of San Francisco, widely noticed in the
scientific literature, is widely recognized to impair coho survival (see
infra Point 11(B)(2));

a century of attempts to establish self-sustaining hatchery
populations had failed (see infra Point II(B)(3));

all available scientific and popular literature prior to the
establishment of hatcheries in the early 1900s recognized that coho
were not native to the area (see infra Point II(B)(4)); and

extensive archeological investigation failed to identify the presence
of coho bones in Native American middens south of San Francisco,
though steclhead bones were often found (see infra Point II(B)(5));
and

plantings of coho injured fragile listed native steelhead populations

(see infra Point I(D)).5

> After the petition was filed, certain dubious specimens of fish, allegedly
gathered in 1895, were re-identified as representing coho presence south of
San Francisco, an event that does not constitute conclusive, if indeed any,
evidence that the fish were native to the area. (See infra Point I1(B)(6).)

S After the petition was filed, scientists purported to discover a coho bone in
the remains of an ancient Native American ocean fishing camp on Afio
Nuevo Point, a finding that has no bearing on whether coho were native to
rivers south of San Francisco. (See infra Point II(B)(5).)

-7 -



As a matter of historical accident, the petition, lodged on June 17,
2004, slightly preceded the Commission’s final 2004 decision expanding
the coho “species” to a larger unit termed “central coast coho”. But the
Commission did not address the allegations of the petition in its 2004 final
decision; at all relevant times it responded to the petition as representing an
entirely separate proceeding.

On March 17, 2005, the Commission issued written findings
rejecting the Petition. (AR1/3:810-815.) The Commission responded to the
petition on the merits, declaring that “all recent genetic analyses support the
genetic distinctiveness of coho salmon from [creeks south of San
Francisco].” (AR1/3:814.) The Commission did not suggest that it was
without legal power to grant the petition because petitions could not point
out errors in a listing, nor did the Commission argue that plaintiffs were
required to present their evidence exclusively during the 1995 or 2004
rulemaking processes.

In response to the Commission’s rejection of the petition, plaintiffs
filed their initial suit on December 5, 2005. On September 26, 2006, the
Superior Court overturned the Commission’s rejection of the Petition.
Central Coast Forest Association and Big Creek Lumber Company v.
California Fish & Game Commission, Case No. 05CS01617 (Sac. Cty.

Sept. 22, 2006). On November 22, 2006, the Superior Court issued a writ



of mandate to the Commission directing it to reconsider its rejection of the
Petition. The Commission did not appeal the decision.

In connection with the Commission’s renewed consideration,
plaintiffs supplemented the petition with substantial new expert analyses of
“the most up-to-date and reliable survival data” (ROA206: BX34, at 17)
and other new information. By this time, it had become apparent that the
Department’s own estimates of coho freshwater and ocean survival proved
that no self-sustaining wild coho populations could persist in the area.
(AR1/3:973-975; see generally petitioner’s Opening Brief at 15-19
(reviewing evidence).) Plaintiffs’ research efforts culminated in an August
2006 article in Fisheries magazine, a peer-reviewed publication of the
American Fisheries Society, which supported the allegations of the petition,
and was also lodged in support of the petition. (ROA633-50.)

Because the Department and Commission had placed weight in 2002
upon genetic testing of California coho populations, plaintiffs also
supplemented their petition with a far more thorough and comprehensive
genetic analysis completed in October 2005 by the National Oceanic and
Atmospheric Administration. (ROA598-621: BX15, at 1-24.) This
evidence is discussed at length in the Brief of Respondents, Oct. 1, 2009, at
pp. 49-54.

After an extraordinarily unfair process that even involved the



unlawful destruction of documents, ’ the Commission held that “the Petition
to delist Coho Salmon South of San Francisco does not provide sufficient
information to indicate that the petitioned action may be warranted [and]
denied the petition”. (Supplemental Return to the Writ, March 8, 2007.)

Again the Commission made no argument that any of the
information supplied could only have been presented in the 1995 or 2004
listing proceedings. The Commission did, however, for the first time take
the position that it was powerless, as a matter of law, to grant the relief
requested, no matter what the factual showing in the petition.

Plaintiffs returned to the Superior Court, which in a thorough and
well-reasoned opinion (ROA1012-1017), again found the Commission’s
rejection of the Petition as unsupported by substantial evidence in light of
the whole record (ROA1015), and also noted that it was unclear that the

Commission had even employed the correct legal standard to evaluate the

" The Commission’s conduct is detailed at pp. 7-10 of the Brief of
Respondents, Oct. 1, 2009, and included improper attempts to refute the
allegations on the merits. As several federal district courts have explained,
“those petitions that are meritorious on their face should not be subject to
refutation by information and views provided by selected third parties
solicited by FWS [the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service]”. Center for
Biological Diversity v. Morgenweck, 351 F. Supp.2d 1137, 1143 (D. Colo.
2004); see also Colorado River Cutthroat Trout v. Kempthorne, 448 F.
Supp.2d 170, 175-77 (D.D.C. 2006) (setting aside rejection of petition
because the Service “solicited information from limited outside sources”);
see also Western Watersheds Project v. Hall, 2007 WL 2790404, *6 (D.
Idaho 2007).

-10 -



petition (ROA1013). Accordingly, a second writ of mandate issued
compelling the Department to “accept Petitioners’ delisting petition
pursuant to § 2074.2(a) of the Fish and Game Code, and to proceed to
further review as provided in §§ 2074.4 et seq. . ..” (ROA1033-1034.)

This time, the Commission appealed. Following the completion of
briefing, the Court of Appeals apparently invented sua sponte a new and
even more far-reaching defense, and sought further briefing on it. (See
Letter, Court of Appeal to Litigants, Jan. 27, 2012.) Following such
briefing, the Court of Appeals adopted the defense, and even overruled its
own prior case invoking § 1094.5 of the Code of Civil Procedure to
applying a “substantial evidence” test to the rejection of CESA petitions at
the threshold stage of review. (Slip op. at 14-15n.11.)

Summary of Argument

The whole rulemaking design of the statute is based upon the
premise that the listed status of a species is subject to change, and
represents a policy decision based on an ever-expanding pool of knowledge
concerning species status. Like any rule, a listing decision can and should
always be subject to legislative revision in the light of new evidence.

Doctrines of administrative finality arising from quasi-judicial
proceedings have no application to apply to Commission rulemaking

proceedings. Certainly one cannot file a petition asserting merely that an

- 11 -



initial listing decision was wrong based on the record before the
Commission; review of such claims is proper only by direct review of the
listing decision. But petitioners are free, consistent with the statutory
design, to present a petition alleging, in substance, that the Commission’s
prior findings need to be reconsidered in light of new evidence. Any
delisting petition revisits a prior conclusion of endangered or threatened
status.

The need for reconsideration is particularly appropriate where, as
here, the Commission is operating outside the statutory framework of
simply adding a recognized “species” or “subspecies” to a list, and
undertaking to exercise authority to list tiny segments of a much, much
larger and healthy population—one can, after all, buy the coho salmon
“species” in a supermarket for consumption. No provision of law expressly
authorizes the Commission to list tiny subgroups of species or subspecies,
and no provision of law expressly forbids petitioners from bringing the
Commission’s species definition error to its attention.

Petitioners presented the only delisting petition which had been
published in a peer-reviewed scientific journal, and easily met the
somewhat lenient standard of showing “a substantial possibility” that the
action might be warranted. Center for Biological Diversity v. California

Fish & Game Comm’n, 166 Cal.App.4th 597, 611. They demonstrated that

-12-



the coho are not native to the area south of San Francisco, and cannot
possibly establish self-sustaining wild populations there because of adverse
conditions. Foolish attempts to do so merely waste scarce conservation
resources and injure genuinely native wild fish.

Argument
L THE COMMISSION MAY CONSIDER PETITIONS TO

DELIST A SPECIES ON THE GROUND THAT THE

ORIGINAL LISTING WAS IN ERROR.

This Court’s grant of review does not distinguish among types of
“error” that the Commission may commit. The fundamental finding made
by the Commission was that some group of coho (which changed from time
to time) was

(11
.

. a native species or subspecies of a bird, mammal, fish,
amphibian, reptile, or plant which is in serious danger of becoming
extinct throughout all, or a significant portion, of its range due to one
or more causes, including loss of habitat, change in habitat,
overexploitation, predation, competition, or disease.”

(Fish and Game Code § 2062 (definition of “endangered species”).

One type of error would be an erroneous decision made on the basis

of the record before the Commission at a particular instant in time, e.g., a

lack of substantial evidence in that record to support a factual finding of

endangerment. But the type of error involved here is different: the factual

findings made by the Commission are wrong on the basis of what we now

know. We now know not only things that might have been unearthed

-13 -



before the prior listing decisions (but weren’t), but also additional scientific
information discovered since the prior listing decisions.

Under the rule of law now sought by the Commission, any and all
error in the initial listings is irrelevant: only if the continued existence of a
“species” as erroneously defined is no longer threatened may the
Commission take any action to change prior listing decision. No such
substantive limit on delisting petitioners appears in CESA, and to the extent
that such a position is set forth in the Commission’s regulations
implementing CESA, those regulations are not consistent with the purposes
of the statute and cannot stand. Nor should any doctrines of administrative
finality bar the Commission from correcting errors in its listings when
brought to the Commission’s attention by petition.

A. The Standard of Review.

The first issue certified by this Court is fundamentally a question of
statutory interpretation, and “questions of statutory interpretation are
questions of law warranting independent review” in § 1094.5 proceedings,
Medical Board v. Superior Court (2001) 88 Cal.App.4th 1001, 1008. For
purpose of evaluating the persuasiveness of the Commission’s position that
its authority with respect to delisting petitions is limited, it is important to
understand that the position developed only on appeal, and after the trial

court’s second writ; the Commission’s initial denial of the petition made no
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reference to any such limitations. (See generally AR1/3:810-15.)

B. The Language and Structure of CESA Do Not Restrict the
Commission’s Powers to Consider Delisting Petitions.

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