#### In the Supreme Court of the State of California

California Fish and Game Commission,

Defendant and Appellant,

v.

Central Coast Forest Association and Big Creek Lumber Company,

Plaintiffs and Respondents.

Case No. S208181

SUPREME COURT FILED

JUN 26 2013

Third Appellate District, Case No. 07 CS 00851
Sacramento County Superior Court, Case No. C0605 Frank A. McGuire Clerk
The Honorable Gail D. Ohanesian, Judge

Deputy

## ANSWERING BRIEF OF DEFENDANT AND APPELLANT CALIFORNIA FISH AND GAME COMMISSION

KAMALA D. HARRIS
Attorney General of California
ROBERT W. BYRNE
Senior Assistant Attorney General
GAVIN G. MCCABE
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
TARA L. MUELLER

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

#### IV. THE COMMISSION DENIES PLAINTIFFS' PETITION TO DELIST COHO SALMON SOUTH OF SAN FRANCISCO UNDER CESA

#### A. The Commission's First Rejection of Petition

On June 17, 2004, approximately 1-½ months before the Commission adopted its final statewide listing regulations, plaintiffs submitted to the Commission a petition to "Redefine the Southern Boundary of Central California Coast Coho Salmon. . Evolutionary [sic] Significant Unit." (AR1/2:556-626.) Plaintiffs requested that the Commission "redefine" the southern boundary of the Central Coast Coho species (ESU) to exclude the streams south of San Francisco from the statewide listing. (AR1/2:561.)

The Commission referred the petition to the Department for a ninety-day evaluation. (AR1/2:630.) In December 2004, the Department completed its evaluation, concluding, for a variety of reasons, that the petition did not contain sufficient information to indicate that delisting may be warranted. (AR1/2:635-49.) At its February 2005 meeting, the Commission agreed with the Department and unanimously denied the petition. (AR1/3:709, 774-79.) The Commission adopted findings in support of that decision at its March 2005 meeting. (AR1/3:800-22.)

In November 2005, plaintiffs challenged the Commission's rejection of their petition. The trial court agreed with plaintiffs and remanded the

matter to the Commission, ruling that the record and findings were insufficient to support the Commission's decision.

## B. The Commission's Reconsideration and Second Rejection of Petition

Pursuant to the trial court's judgment and writ, in January 2007 the Commission published and distributed a notice of its intent to reconsider the petition to delist at its March 2007 meeting. (AR1/4:1077-82.) The Department prepared a supplemental evaluation of the petition, again concluding that the petition did not contain sufficient information to indicate that delisting may be warranted. (AR1/5:1244-1313.) Numerous other parties submitted additional information. (See AR1/4-12:1226-4297.)

At its March 2007 meeting, after hearing presentations and comments from the Department, plaintiffs and the interested public, the Commission once again unanimously denied the petition to delist. (AR1/4:1083-1159.) The Commission adopted findings in support of its decision at its April 2007 meeting. (AR1/4:1161-1202.) In July 2007, plaintiffs again challenged the Commission's decision, seeking a declaration that the Commission has authority to list coho salmon north of San Francisco only and a writ of mandate directing the Commission to accept their petition. (Record on Appeal, 004-015.) The trial court again agreed with plaintiffs (*id.*, 1012-1018) but the Court of Appeal reversed. It held that CESA absolutely bars a person from submitting a delisting petition that alleges errors in a prior listing decision where that person failed to judicially challenge the prior decision. (*Central Coast Forest Assn. v. Fish and Game Comn.* (2012) 211 Cal.App.4th 1433.)

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

#### I. STANDARD OF JUDICIAL REVIEW

Pursuant to section 2076, the Commission's findings and decision rejecting the petition under section 2074.2 are subject to judicial review under Code of Civil Procedure section 1094.5. (*Natural Resources Defense Council v. Fish and Game Comn.* (1994) 28 Cal.App.4th 1104, 1115-16 (*NRDC*).)<sup>6</sup> Under Code of Civil Procedure section 1094.5, subdivisions (b) and (c), a court may overturn the Commission's decision only if it finds that the Commission "proceeded without, or in excess of, jurisdiction" or prejudicially abused its discretion by: (1) failing to proceed in the manner required by law; (2) reaching a decision that is not supported by the findings; or (3) adopting findings that are not supported by substantial evidence in light of the whole record. (*Ocean Harbor House Homeowners' Assn. v. Calif. Coastal Comn.* (2008) 163 Cal.App.4th 215, 226-27.)

The substantial evidence test governs this Court's review of the Commission's findings in support of its decision to reject a petition pursuant to section 2074.2. (Center for Biological Diversity v. Fish and Game Comn. (2008) 166 Cal.App.4th 597, 609 (CBD).) Under the substantial evidence test, "[t]he trial court presumes that the agency's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Commission agrees with plaintiffs that the Court of Appeal's contrary conclusion in this case is incorrect. The court erroneously concluded that only the Commission's ultimate listing or delisting determination pursuant to section 2075.5 is subject to review pursuant to section 2076 and Code of Civil Procedure section 1094.5, because section 2076 only refers to the immediately preceding section 2075.5. (See *Central Coast Forest Assn., supra*, 211 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1445-46, 1447 n. 11.) However, section 2076 can only reasonably be construed to refer to the entire listing article (Article 2: Listing of Endangered Species)-including decisions to accept or reject a petition pursuant to section 2074.2-and not simply the immediately preceding section.

decision is supported by substantial evidence, and the party challenging that decision bears the burden of demonstrating the contrary." (*Ocean Harbor House, supra*, 163 Cal.App.4th at p. 227.) In reviewing the agency's decision:

[t]he court examines the whole record and considers all relevant evidence, including that evidence which detracts from its decision [citation]. Although this task involves some weighing to fairly estimate the worth of the evidence, that limited weighing does not constitute independent review where the court substitutes its own findings and inferences for that of the Commission. Rather, it is for the Commission to weigh the preponderance of conflicting evidence, as the court may reverse [the Commission's] decision only if, based on the evidence before it, a reasonable person could not have reached the conclusion reached by it.

(Id. at p. 227, emphasis added; see also Western States Petroleum Assn. v. Superior Court (1995) 9 Cal.4th 559, 571.) Judicial review of an agency's "factual determinations is deferential and all doubts and inferences are resolved in favor of the agency." (McAllister v. California Coastal Comn. (2008) 169 Cal.App.4th 912, 921.)

On appeal from a petition for a writ of mandate challenging an agency's decision under Code of Civil Procedure section 1094.5, the appellate court applies the same substantial evidence standard of review that governs the trial court's review of the agency's decision.

(Environmental Protection Information Center v. Calif. Dept. of Forestry (2008) 44 Cal.4th 459, 479 (EPIC); CBD, supra, 166 Cal.App.4th at p. 609.) The court reviews the record de novo and is "not bound by the trial court's conclusions." (EPIC, supra, 44 Cal.4th at p. 479.)

Finally, the proper interpretation of a statute, and its application to undisputed facts, is a question of law subject to independent judgment review. (*Yamaha Corp. v. State Board of Equalization* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 1, 7, 12.) However, an agency's interpretation of a statute it is charged with

implementing is to be afforded a degree of deference "appropriate to the circumstances of the agency action." (*Id.* at p. 8.) Such deference is particularly appropriate where "the agency has expertise and technical knowledge" and the statute to be interpreted is "technical, obscure, complex, open-ended, or entwined with issues of fact, policy, and discretion." (*Id.* at p. 12; see also *California Forestry, supra*, 156 Cal.App.4th at p. 1546 [deference to the Commission's and Department's interpretation of CESA appropriate "given their central roles in the listing process" and "their scientific expertise"].)

#### II. STANDARD OF AGENCY REVIEW

In NRDC, supra, 28 Cal.App.4th at p. 1116, the Court of Appeal considered the question of what evidentiary standard the Commission must use in determining whether to accept a petition for further consideration pursuant to section 2074.2. The court interpreted the statutory standard of "sufficient information to indicate that the petitioned action may be warranted" to mean "that amount of information, when considered in light of the Department's written report and the comments received, that would lead a reasonable person to conclude there is a substantial possibility that the requested listing [or delisting] could occur." (Id. at p. 1125.) A "substantial possibility" is more than the "fair argument" or "reasonable possibility" standard for preparing an environmental impact report under the California Environmental Quality Act, but less than the "reasonably probable" or "more likely than not" standard for granting a preliminary injunction. (*Ibid.*) Importantly, the court acknowledged that "the section 2074.2 determination is a quasi-adjudicatory one that contemplates the Commission weighing the evidence for and against candidate listing [or

delisting] and deciding essentially a question of fact in the process." (*Id.* at p. 1116; see also *id.* at pp. 1117 n. 10, 1120, 1125.)<sup>7</sup>

In *CBD*, *supra*, 166 Cal.App.4th at pp. 609-10, the court reaffirmed the *NRDC* standard for the Commission's initial review of petitions to list or delist species under section 2074.2. The *CBD* court likewise reiterated that "the Commission is the finder of fact in the first instance in evaluating the information in the record." (*Id.* at p. 611, citing *NRDC*, *supra*, 28 Cal.App.4th at p. 1125.) However, the court explained that, in light of the statutory threshold for acceptance of a petition, "the Commission is not free to choose among conflicting inferences" at this first stage. (*Id.*) Rather, the Commission's decision turns on "*the absence of any substantial possibility* that the species could be listed" after the Department performs its one-year status review. (*Id.*, emphasis added.)

The CBD court then applied the substantial evidence standard of *judicial* review to the Commission's decision to reject a petition to list a species under section 2074.2. (*CBD*, *supra*, 166 Cal.App.4th at p. 609.)

The court explained that, on judicial review, the Commission's decision to reject a petition must be upheld if all of the information both for and against the petitioned action does not "*clearly weigh* in favor of finding" that the action "may be warranted." (*Id.* at pp. 610-11, emphasis added.) "If the balance is unclear," the court *must* defer to the Commission. (Ibid.)

On the other hand, if the information as a whole "clearly would lead a reasonable person to conclude that there is a substantial possibility" that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Based on its erroneous interpretation of section 2076 as only permitting administrative mandamus challenges to ultimate listing and delisting determinations under section 2075.5, the Court of Appeal in this case improperly disapproved of this language in *NRDC*. (See *Central Coast Forest Assn., supra*, 211 Cal.App.4th at p. 1448 n. 11.) The Commission submits that the quoted language in *NRDC* is correct.

petitioned action "could occur," then rejection of the petition exceeds the scope of the Commission's discretion under section 2074.2. (CBD, supra, 166 Cal.App.4th at p. 611.) However, even if the petition itself provides a "prima facie showing" that the petitioned action may be warranted, the court still must uphold the Commission's decision to reject a petition if "countervailing information and logic persuasively, wholly undercut some important component" of that prima facie showing. (Id. at p. 612.)

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. ALTHOUGH THE COMMISSION MAY CONSIDER A PETITION TO DELIST A SPECIES ON THE GROUND THAT THE ORIGINAL LISTING WAS IN ERROR, IT CANNOT ACCEPT SUCH PETITION FOR IN-DEPTH CONSIDERATION UNLESS THE ALLEGED ERRORS AND OTHER INFORMATION IN THE PETITION ARE RELEVANT TO THE STATUTORY BASES FOR DELISTING

The Commission may accept as complete and begin processing a petition to delist that alleges errors in a prior listing decision, provided the petition meets the minimum criteria set forth in section 2072.3. Section 2073 requires the Commission to determine whether a petition is complete within ten days of receipt. If the Commission finds the petition is complete, it must refer it to the Department for a ninety-day evaluation.

<sup>8</sup> The Commission argued below that such a petition must contain significant *new information* that either was not in existence, or could not reasonably have been discovered, at the time the Commission made its original listing decision, and that the instant petition did not contain such new information. (Comn. Supp. Brf. at 7-14, 18-19; Comn. Supp. Reply Brf. at 1, 6; see also Pltfs' Opening Brief (POB) at 11.) Here, the Commission assumes *arguendo* that the petition did contain such new information. For purposes of the Court's questions, the important point is not whether the information in the petition is "new," but whether the Commission properly found that this information was insufficient to satisfy the "may be warranted" test under section 2074.2.

(§§ 2073, 2073.5; Cal. Code Regs., tit. 14, § 670.1, subd. (b).) Here, the Commission deemed the petition complete and referred it to the Department. (AR1/3:627-28.)

However, the Commission cannot accept the petition for further, *indepth* consideration under section 2074.2 unless the alleged errors and other information in the petition are: (1) relevant to the statutory bases for delisting under CESA and (2) sufficient to meet the "may be warranted" evidentiary threshold. In considering whether to accept a delisting petition for further review, the sole determination the Commission is authorized to make under CESA is whether the petition provides "sufficient scientific information" to "indicate that the petitioned action may be warranted." (§§ 2070, 2072.3, 2074.2, subd. (a); Cal. Code Regs., tit. 14, § 670.1, subd. (e), emphasis added.) As noted above, the Third District Court of Appeal has twice interpreted this standard to mean sufficient information to indicate to a reasonable person that there is a "substantial possibility" the petitioned action "could occur." (*NRDC*, *supra*, 28 Cal.App.4th at p. 1125; *CBD*, *supra*, 166 Cal.App.4th at pp. 609-10.)

In this case, the "petitioned action" was a request to "redefine the southern boundary" of the Central Coast Coho species "to exclude coastal streams south of San Francisco, effectively delisting coho salmon south of San Francisco." (AR1/2:556, 561.) Thus, the petition requests that the Commission redefine the listed Central Coast Coho species to delist a portion of that species – the populations south of San Francisco. (POB at 19-20.) The petition does not merely seek to split two species "into separate units for analysis," as plaintiffs claim. (*Id.* at 17.) Rather, the petition seeks to carve out a portion of a listed species and remove CESA protection for that portion. (AR1/2:561-62, 580, 614.)

As explained below, CESA only authorizes listing or delisting of entire "species," based on a scientific determination of the biological status

of such species. Thus, in order for the Commission to find that there is a "substantial possibility" that delisting of *a portion* of a previously listed species ultimately "could occur," the petition must contain sufficient evidence tending to show that: (1) the group of populations proposed to be delisted are a biologically distinct "species" from the listed species; and (2) this separate species is not a biologically "endangered" or "threatened" species, as defined in CESA. (§§ 2062, 2067, 2070.)

## A. The Commission May Only Delist a Portion of a Listed Species if that Portion Is a Biologically Distinct Group of Populations

CESA does not separately define the term "species," but defines an "endangered species" and a "threatened species" in part as a "native *species* or *subspecies* of . . . fish." (§§ 2062, 2067, emphasis added.) In *California Forestry, supra*, 156 Cal.App.4th at p. 1540, the Court of Appeal considered whether the terms "species" and "subspecies" authorize listing of distinct groups of coho salmon populations (ESUs). *California* 

(continued...)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> This Court should decline plaintiffs' request (POB at 29 n. 9) to reconsider the Court of Appeal's holding in *California Forestry*, for several reasons. First, because plaintiffs raise this argument for the first time in their opening brief in this Court, the argument is waived, and the Court should decline to exercise its discretion to consider it. (*Gelfo v. Lockheed Martin Corp.* (2006) 140 Cal.App.4th 34, 45-6; *Souza v. Westlands Water Dist.* (2006) 135 Cal.App.4th 879, 898-99.) Second, reconsideration of *California Forestry* is not fairly encompassed within this Court's order granting review, and does not satisfy the criteria of California Rule of Court, Rule 8.516, subd. (b)(2).

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